IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KRISHNA MAHARAJ,)		
	Appellant,)		
V.)		No. 91,854
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
	Appellee.))	

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, KRISHNA MAHARAJ, ON APPEAL

BENEDICT P. KUEHNE Fla. Bar No. 233293 Sale & Kuehne NationsBank Tower #3550 100 S.E. 2nd Street Miami, Fla. 33131-2154 (305) 789-5989

CLIVE A. STAFFORD SMITH 636 Baronne Street New Orleans, La. 70113 (504) 558-9867

Certificate of Type Style and Font

It is hereby certified that the text of this brief is printed in Abadi MT Conde 14 point font, proportional spaced, in compliance with this Court's rules.

<u>Aragno v. State</u> , 467 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1985)
Arango v. State, 497 So. 2d 1161 (Fla. 1986)
Banks v. State, 400 So. 2d 188 (Fla. App. DCA1 1981) 65
Bankston v. State, 391 So. 2d 1005 (Miss. 1980)
Beasley v. State, 315 So. 2d 540 (Fla. App. DCA2 1975) 95
Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980)
Blackburn v. Foltz, 828 F.2d 1177 (6th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 970 (1988)
Blair v. State, 698 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 1997)
Bowen v. Maynard, 799 F.2d 593 (10th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 962, 107 S. Ct. 458, 93 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1986)
Bracy v. Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 117 S. Ct. 1793, 138 L. Ed. 2d 97 (1994) 15
Bradford v. State, 701 So. 2d 899 (Fla. DCA 4 1997)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) 30
Breard v. Greene, 523 U.S. 371, 118 S. Ct. 1352, 140 L. Ed. 2d 529 (1998)8
Brown v. Wainwright, 785 F.2d 1457 (11th Cir. 1986) 54
<u>In re Bryan,</u> 645 F.2d 331 (5th Cir. Unit B, 1981)
<u>California v. Beheler</u> , 463 U.S. 1121, 103 S. Ct. 3517, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1275 (1983)
Campbell v. Reed, 594 F.2d 4 (4th Cir. 1979)
<u>Carter v. Rafferty</u> , 826 F.2d 1299 (3rd Cir. 1987) 53, 54

<u>Chathom v. White</u> , 858 F.2d 1479 (11th Cir. 1988) 64
<u>Clemmons v. Delo,</u> 124 F.3d 944 (8th Cir. 1997) 91
Clifton v. United States, 371 F.2d 354 (D.C. Cir. 1966)
Coxwell v. State, 361 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 1978)
<u>Curry v. Zant</u> , 371 S.E.2d 647 (1988)
<u>Darden v. Wainwright</u> , 477 U.S. 168, 106 S. Ct. 2464, 91 L. Ed. 2d 144 (1986)
<u>Davis v. State</u> , 627 So. 2d 112 (Fla. DCA1 1993)
<u>Deaton v. Dugger</u> , 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993)
Denmark v. State, 646 So. 2d 754 (Fla. App. DCA2 1994) 65
<u>Dennis v. United States</u> , 384 U.S. 855, 86 S. Ct. 1840, 16 L. Ed. 2d 973 (1966)
<u>Dispensa v. Lynaugh</u> , 847 F.2d 211 (5th Cir. 1988)
<u>Donovan v. State</u> , 417 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1982)
<u>Downs v. State</u> , 453 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 1984) 64
<u>Duest v. Singletary</u> , 997 F.2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u> , 114 S 66
Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 47, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981)81
Escobar v. State, 699 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1997)
Evans v. Lewis, 855 F.2d 631 (9th Cir. 1988)
Farrell v. State, 317 So. 2d 142 (Fla. DCA1 1975)
<u>Faulder v. Johnson</u> , 81 F.3d 515 (5th Cir. 1996)

<u>Floyd v. Meachum</u> , 907 F.2d 347 (2d Cir. 1990)
Freeman v. Georgia, 599 F.2d 65 (5th Cir. 1979)
Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Giglio v. United States.</u> 405 U.S. 150, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1972)
Gilchrist v. State, 534 So. 2d 1120 (Ala. Crim. App. 1988)
Gill v. State, 632 So. 2d 660 (Fla. DCA2 1994)
Goines v. State, 708 So. 2d 656 (Fla. App. DCA4 1998)
Goldberg v. State, 351 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1977) 51, 52
Gomila v. United States, 146 F.2d 372 (5th Cir. 1944)
Gregory v. United States, 369 F.2d 185 (D.C. Cir. 1966), aff'd after remand, 410 F
<u>Groseclose v. Bell,</u> 130 F.3d 1161 (6th Cir 1997)
<u>Grubbs v. Singletary</u> , 892 F. Supp. 1484 (M.D. Fla. 1995) 73
<u>Hadley v. Groose</u> , 97 F.3d 1131 (8th Cir. 1996) 80, 87
Holsclaw v. Smith, 822 F.2d 1041 (11th Cir. 1987) 66
Horton v. State, 306 S.C. 252, 411 S.E.2d 223 (1991)
<u>Hughes v. Bowers,</u> 711 F. Supp. 1574 (N.D. Ga. 1989)
<u>Hunter v. United States</u> , 62 F.2d 217 (5th Cir. 1932)
<u>Jacobs v. Singletary</u> , 952 F.2d 1282 (11th Cir. 1992) 50
Jacobs v. State. 396 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 1981)

<u>Jefferson v. State</u> , 645 So. 2d 313 (Ala.Cr.App. 1994) 91
<u>Jemison v. Foltz,</u> 672 F. Supp. 1002 (E.D.Mich. 1987)
<u>Jenks v. United States,</u> 353 U.S. 657, 77 S. Ct. 1007, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1103 (1957)
<u>Jiminez v. State</u> , 112 Nev. 610, 918 P.2d 687 (1996) 41, 42, 92
<u>Johnson v. Mississippi,</u> 486 U.S. 578, 108 S. Ct. 1981, 100 L. Ed. 2d 575 (1988)
<u>Johnson v. Trickey,</u> 882 F.2d 316 (8th Cir. 1989)
Keen v. State, 639 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1994)
<u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u> , 477 U.S. 365, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986)
<u>LaTulip v. State</u> , 645 So. 2d 552 (Fla. DCA2 1994) 57, 81
<u>Lanier v. State</u> , 709 So. 2d 112 (Fla. DCA3 1998)
<u>Lard</u> , 734 F.2d at 1297 100
<u>Lavigne v. State</u> , 812 P.2d 217 (Alaska 1991)
<u>Lindsey v. King</u> , 769 F.2d 1034 (5th Cir. 1985)
<u>Livingston v. State</u> , 441 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1984) 15, 21, 22
<u>Maharaj v. State</u> , 597 So. 2d 786, S201 (Fla. 1992) 2, 3, 34, 46, 47, 57, 58, 59, 63, 68, 71, 73, 78, 79
Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1996) 2, 7, 8, 13, 15, 21, 46
Mak v. Blodgett, 970 F.2d 614 (9th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S 32
Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 (19778)5

Martin v. State, 501 So. 2d 1313 (Fla. DCA1 1986)
Merckle v. State, 529 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1988) 9, 10, 11, 14, 16
Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 106 S. Ct. 1404, 89 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1986)
Miller v. Pate, 396 U.S. 1, 87 S. Ct. 2392, 49 L. Ed. 2d 960 (1967) 30
Miller v. State, 728 S.W.2d 133 (Tex. Ct. App. 1987)
Miller v. Wainwright, 798 F.2d 426 (11th Cir. 1986)
Moffett v. Kolb, 930 F.2d 1156 (7th Cir. 1991)
Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103, 55 S. Ct. 340, 89 L. Ed. 791 (1935) . 30
Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 106 S. Ct. 1135, 89 L. Ed. 2d 410 (1980) 81
In Re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 99 L. Ed. 942, 95 S. Ct. 623 (1955) 9, 13
Napue, 360 U.S. at 269, 79 S. Ct. at 1177 49, 59
Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972) 85
Nero v. Blackburn, 597 F.2d 991 (5th Cir. 1979)
Nichols v. Butler, 917 F.2d 518 (11th Cir. 1990) 67
Nichols v. Butler, 953 F.2d 1550 (11th Cir. 1992)
Nixon v. Newsome, 888 F.2d 112 (11th Cir. 1989) 57, 81
Nunn v. State, 778 S.W.2d 707 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989)
Orange County v. Williams, 702 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1997) 24, 28
<u>Oregon v. Bradshaw</u> , 462 U.S. 1039, 103 S. Ct. 2830, 77 L. Ed. 2d 405 (1983)

<u>People v. Coleman</u> , 183 III. 2d 366, 701 N.E.2d 1063, 233 III.Dec. 789 (1998)
People v. Heller, 126 Misc. 2d 575, 483 N.Y.S.2d 590 (1984) 42, 43, 44, 45
People v. Ledesma, 43 Cal. 3d 171 (1987)
<u>People v. Salgado</u> , 263 III. App. 3d 238, 635 N.E.2d 1367, 200 III.Dec. 784 (1994)
Perdomo v. State, 565 So. 2d 1375 (Fla. DCA2 1990) 39, 40, 92
Poe v. United States, 233 F. Supp. 173 (D.D.C. 1964), aff'd. 352 F.2d 639 (D.C.Cir 1965)
Preston v. State, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied 113 S 66
Rice v. Marshall, 816 F.2d 1126 (6th Cir. 1987) 66
Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44 (1987)
Rogers-Bey v. Lane, 896 F.2d 279 (7th Cir. 1990) 67
Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996)
In re Rules of Criminal Procedure, 719 So. 2d 869 (Fla. 1998) 24
Scott v. State, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995)
<u>Sexton v. State</u> , 697 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1997)
Sias v. State, 416 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. App. DCA3 1982) 64
Skyles v. State, 670 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. DCA4 1996)
Smith v. Secretary of New Mexico Department of Corrections, 50 F.3d 801 (10th Cir. 1995)
Smith v. Wainwright, 741 F.2d 1248 (11th Cir. 1984) 57, 81

Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), quoting Armstrong v. State, 642 So
State ex rel. Davis v. Parks, 141 Fla. 516, 194 So. 613 (1939) 9
State v. Benson, 973 S.W.2d 202 (Tenn. 1998)
State v. Garmise, 408 So. 2d 732 (Fla. DCA3 1982)
State v. Gunsby, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996) 31, 33, 66
State v. Norris, 168 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1964)
State v. Paterno, 478 So. 2d 420 (Fla. App. DCA3 1985)
<u>Steinhorst v. State</u> , 636 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1994)
<u>Steverson v. State</u> , 695 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1997), quoting Fla. Stat. § 90.403 (1995)
Stewart v. Commonwealth, 245 Va. 222, 427 S.E.2d 394 (Va. 193) 82
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978) 32
<u>The Florida Bar v. Gross</u> , 610 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992)
The Florida Bar v. Swickle, 589 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 1991)
Townsend v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736, 68 S. Ct. 1252, 92 L. Ed. 1690 (1948) 66
<u>U'ren v. Bagley</u> , 118 Ore. 77, 245 P.2d 1074 (1926)
<u>United States v. Basurto</u> , 497 F.2d 781 (9th Cir. 1974) 95
<u>United States v. Bogart</u> , 783 F.2d 1428 (9th Cir. 1986) 98, 99

United States v. Cabrera-Sarmiento, No. 1:CR-85-701D (S.D. Fla. Miami Division)
United States v. Calderon-Medina, 591 F.2d 529 (9th Cir. 1979) 97
<u>United States v. Calle</u> , 822 F.2d 1016 (11th Cir. 1987) 96
United States v Columbia Broadcasting, Inc., 497 F.2d 107 (5th Cir 1974) 9
<u>United States v. Dinitz</u> , 424 U.S. 600, 96 S. Ct. 1075, 47 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1976)
<u>United States v. Glover</u> , 596 F.2d 857 (9th Cir. 1979) 51
<u>United States v. Gray</u> , 878 F.2d 702 (3rd Cir. 1989)
<u>United States v. Hart</u> , 344 F. Supp. 522 (E.D.N.Y. 1971) 51
<u>United States v. Jorn</u> , 400 U.S. 470, 91 S. Ct. 547, 27 L. Ed. 2d 543 (1971)99
<u>United States v. Lindell</u> , 881 F.2d 1313 (5th Cir. 1989)
<u>United States v. Long</u> , 857 F.2d 436 (8th Cir. 1988)
<u>United States v. Lynn</u> , 856 F.2d 430 (1st Cir. 1988)
<u>United States v. Martinez</u> , 883 F.2d 750 (9th Cir. 1989) 67
<u>United States v. Miller</u> , 874 F.2d 1255 (9th Cir. 1989) 49
<u>United States v. Moskovits</u> , 844 F. Supp. 202 (E.D. Pa. 1993) 70
<u>United States v. Piccinonna</u> , 885 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1989) 49
United States v. Rangel-Gonzales, 617 F.2d 529 (9th Cir. 1980) 98
<u>United States v. Rivera Pedin</u> , 861 F.2d 1522 (11th Cir. 1988)
<u>United States v. Sepulveda</u> , 15 F.3d 1161 (1st Cir. 1993)

STATUTES
<u>Yarborough v. State</u> , 529 So. 2d 659 (Miss. 1988)
Williams v. State, 507 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. App. DCA5)
Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959)
Williams v. Griswald, 743 F.2d 1533 (11th Cir. 1984) 45
Wicoff v. Sate, 321 Ark. 97, 900 S.W.2d 187 (1995)
Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir.)
Wade v. Armontrout, 798 F.2d 304 (8th Cir. 1986)
Voyles v. Watkins, 489 F. Supp. 901 (N.D. Miss. 1980) 57
<u>Vasquez v. Hillery</u> , 474 U.S. 254, 106 S. Ct. 617, 88 L. Ed. 2d 598 (1986) 17
<u>Urquhart v. State,</u> 676 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996)
<u>United States v. Walker,</u> 772 F.2d 1172 (5th Cir. 1985)
<u>United States v. Wade</u> , 388 U.S. 218, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967)
<u>United States v. Vincent, 525 F.2d 262 (2d Cir. 1975)</u> 54
<u>United States v. Tyler,</u> 714 F.2d 664 (6th Cir. 1983)
<u>United States v. Twigg</u> , 588 F.2d 373 (3d Cir. 1978)
<u>United States v. Teague</u> , 908 F.2d 752 (11th Cir. 1990) 67
<u>United States v. Srulowitz</u> , 785 F.2d 382 (2nd Cir. 1986)
<u>United States v. Shaffer,</u> 789 F.2d 682 (9th Cir. 1986)

Fla. Const. Art. V, §3(b)(1)	
	MISCELLANEOUS
•	or Not an "Error"? Habeas Corpus and Cumulative s, 46 Baylor L. Rev. 59, 64 (1994)

BRIEF ON APPEAL

COMES NOW, KRISHNA MAHARAJ, and respectfully files his appeal from the denial of his *Fla. R. Crim. Pro.* § 3.850 petition challenging his convictions in this case:

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is a capital case in which the death penalty was imposed. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to *Fla. Const. Art. V, §3(b)(1)*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Maharaj was indicted for two counts of first degree murder and related offenses. (Tr. 1-5a)¹ He was charged with the deaths of Derrick and Duane Moo Young in the Dupont Plaza Hotel on October 16, 1986. On October 19, 1987, the jury rendered verdicts of guilty as to two counts of first degree murder, two counts of kidnaping with a firearm, and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (Tr. 4184-87) The jury recommended life imprisonment for the murder of Derrick Moo Young and the death penalty, by a vote of 7 to 5, for the murder of Duane Moo Young. (Tr. 4498-99) On December 1, 1987, the trial court imposed the death penalty for

¹ The record in this case is cited as follows: The record on direct appeal is cited "(Tr. ____)"; the 1213 page transcript of the 3.850 hearing held below is cited "(3.850 Tr. ____)"; the 6834 pages of clerk's papers from the hearing are cited "(3.850 Clerk Tr. ____)".

the murder of Duane Moo Young, three consecutive terms of life imprisonment, and 15 years imprisonment consecutive on the final count. (Tr. 1783-84)

Before the preparation of the record on appeal, Mr. Maharaj moved for relinquishment of jurisdiction to file a writ of error *coram nobis* based on newly discovered evidence. This Court allowed 90 days for an evidentiary hearing, but counsel was never provided and no hearing was held. Compelling evidence of his innocence therefore had to wait a decade before he could present the evidence at his 3.850 hearing.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Maharaj's convictions and sentences. Maharaj v. State, 597 So. 2d 786, 17 FLW S201 (Fla. 1992) (Maharaj I), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1072, 113 S. Ct. 1029, 122 L. Ed. 2d 174 (1993). Mr. Maharaj immediately filed for post-conviction relief, long before the statute of limitations. However, it was denied without a hearing. On appeal from the decision, this Court ruled that Judge Glick should have been disqualified from sitting on the case, and ordered a hearing on the substance of the petition. Maharaj v. State, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996) (Maharaj II). This time, a week-long hearing was held before Judge Jerald Bagley (3.850)

Tr.135-1137), who granted relief as to sentence,² but refused to vacate Mr. Maharaj's convictions. (3.850 Clerk Tr. 6576) This appeal ensues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Krishna Maharaj, a British citizen, was born in Trinidad on January 26th, 1939. He moved to England in 1960, and lived there until 1985. He became a very successful businessman. In 1985 he began to spend time in Florida, since he had investments in real estate in the Fort Lauderdale area. He hoped to divide his time between England and Florida after he retired. Since his 1987 conviction, the British public has learned of the facts of this case through such documentaries as *Murder in Room 1215*, by Channel 4. The public concern has reached such a pitch that a Queen's Counsel, a Member of Parliament, and a member of the Diplomatic Service were all present at the hearing in the lower court. (3.850 Tr. 222)

The State's case at trial stretched credulity. We now know it was false, and relied heavily for its success on defense counsel's failure to prepare, and the State's suppression of extremely favorable evidence. Mr. Maharaj had once been friends with a Jamaican who had moved to the United States, Derrick Moo Young, but they had fallen out. The State insisted that their

² Judge Bagley found that Judge Solomon's *ex parte* request that the State prepare an order sentencing Mr. Maharaj to death before the judicial sentencing hearing had even begun required vacation of the sentence.

declining relationship was accurately described in various articles published in a local tabloid, the *Caribbean Echo*, by one Eslee Carberry. These detailed Mr. Maharaj's supposed frauds on the Moo Youngs and pending criminal charges in England, and their publication was meant to be the motive for Mr. Maharaj's crime. Maharaj I at 788. The jury did not hear that virtually every fact (including the criminal charges) was known to the prosecution to be false, that the Moo Youngs were actually perpetrating the frauds on Mr. Maharaj, and that the extent of Mr. Maharaj's "revenge" was to start a rival newspaper, the *Caribbean Times*, which was committed to rise above such scandal-mongering, and never even mentioned Carberry or the Moo Youngs.

Supposedly, Mr. Maharaj asked Neville Butler, a recent acquaintance, to set up a meeting with the Moo Youngs in Room 1215 of the Dupont Plaza Hotel, whereupon Mr. Maharaj shot both of them in Butler's presence. Concededly, Mr. Maharaj's fingerprints were found in the room. According to Det. John Buhrmaster, Mr. Maharaj denied ever being in the room. This was very damaging since it was clearly false. Yet according to the deposition of another officer, Buhrmaster had previously said that Mr. Maharaj had admitted to being in the room. The jury never heard this because trial counsel forgot to present it.

Indeed, Mr. Maharaj was seen by an independent witness sitting in the

room alone reading a newspaper, shortly after 8 a.m., although the prosecution had evidence that the Moo Youngs were scheduled to arrive at 12:15 p.m., around the time they were murdered. There was no sensible, incriminating reason for Mr. Maharaj being there that early. However, he has consistently insisted that Butler had arranged for him to meet Eddie Dames, a friend of Butler's from the Bahamas, about distributing the *Times* in the islands. He left before 10 a.m. because Dames never showed. Mr. Maharaj had alibi witnesses who placed him in Fort Lauderdale at the time the crime took place. Yet counsel advised him not to testify and failed to speak with most of his alibi witnesses, much less call any of them. The jury never heard this critical evidence.

The State also presented evidence from one Tino Geddes, another Jamaican, who had initially confirmed Mr. Maharaj's alibi, but by the time of trial testified to outlandish stories about Mr. Maharaj buying camouflage uniforms for a ground assault on the Moo Young home. Defense counsel never even bothered to depose Geddes, and could have shown that his stories were fantasies.

At trial, although he was the State's star witness, Butler's story was flimsy. He supposedly arranged for Mr. Maharaj to meet with the unsuspecting Moo Youngs in Dames' room. Dames allegedly knew nothing about the

planned crime, and was off shopping with an associate from the Bahamas, Prince Ellis, at the time of the murder. Ellis has now recanted the testimony he gave for the State, and admitted that Dames was involved in the crime.

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