IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,584

KRISHNA MAHARAJ,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue

Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

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

Ron Petrillo was hired by Defendant's first attorney as a private investigator. (T. 1012-14) In the course of his investigation, Petrillo looked into room 408 at the DuPont Plaza. (T. 1022-23) He found that it did not have a door to the room next door, room 406, and the only way to get between the room was by entering the hallway. (T. 1023)

Petrillo saw a briefcase in one of the crime scene photographs. (T. 1024) He went to the police and was allowed to view the empty briefcase. (T. 1025) He never saw the contents of the briefcase. (T. 1026)

After hearing the evidence and argument of counsel and considering post hearing memoranda, the lower court denied the motion regarding Defendant's conviction in detailed 25 page order. (R. 6623-46) The lower court did grant Defendant relief from his death sentence. (R. 6623-46) Defendant appealed the denial of his motion regarding his conviction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant did not raise his claim that a mistrial was required because of the initial trial judge's arrest mistrial below and the claim was raised on direct appeal. As such, this claim is barred.

Defendant also did not contend below that his counsel was ineffective for failing to move to recuse the initial trial judge pretrial, and the claim is barred.

The lower court properly denied Defendant's claims that his counsel was ineffective for advising Defendant to waive the mistrial issue, and the waiver was valid. This was a proper strategic decision.

The lower court did not deny Defendant funds to conduct the post conviction proceedings. Funds were unavailable because of Defendant's insistence on the timing of the proceedings below.

The lower court properly determined that counsel was not ineffective in the guilt phase. The decisions were proper strategic decisions, Defendant failed to prove that counsel was deficient, and Defendant was not prejudiced.

The lower court properly concluded that the State did not suppress evidence. Defendant was aware of the evidence pretrial, the evidence was immaterial, and Defendant did not show that the State knew of the evidence.

The lower court's rulings regarding evidence at the hearing below were proper. The testimony Defendant sought to elicit was irrelevant.

The lower court also properly handled the matter of the grand jury transcripts. Defendant was aware of the contradiction in this testimony pretrial. The lower court obtained and review in camera the transcript and determined that it contained no additional impeachment evidence and that the interests of justice did not require the violation of grand jury secrecy.

Defendant's claim that the State violated his rights under the Vienna Convention was barred. Further, Defendant has no standing to raise this issue and showed no prejudice.

Defendant is not entitled to any relief from his convictions. Further, he is not entitled to discharge.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ISSUES RELATED TO THE ARREST OF THE INITIAL TRIAL JUDGE ARE BARRED AND MERITLESS.

Defendant first asserts that his conviction should be reversed because a mistrial was not declared when the judge was arrested mid-trial. In support of this claim, Defendant places considerable weight on his allegation that Trinchet's approach to Defendant was an attempt to solicit a bribe by the initial trial judge. However, Defendant presented no evidence linking Trinchet to the trial judge. As such, Defendant did not prove that Trinchet's approach was a solicitation of a bribe by the trial judge.

Further, while Defendant claims that his trial counsel's testimony shows that the initial trial judge's actions after the bribe attempt prejudiced him, trial counsel's testimony does not support this allegation. Trial counsel testified that only change he noticed in the initial trial judge after the encounter with Trinchet was that he was not courteous. (T. 234) Trial counsel specifically stated that the change did not extend to substantive issues. (T. 350)

Defendant next contends that the initial trial judge should have recused himself because he was taking bribes. However, Defendant did not raise this issue in his motion in the lower

court. As such, this claim is barred. *Shere v. State*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S301 (Fla. Jun. 24, 1999); *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988).

Even if the claim had been raised below, it would still be barred and meritless. Defendant appears to contend that the initial trial judge should have admitted to taking bribes and recused himself on this basis. However, in *Breedlove v. State*, 580 So. 2d 605, 606-07 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that a government official is not required to waive his privilege against self incrimination to provide facts favorable to a defendant. Thus, under *Breedlove*, the initial trial judge was not required to admit his criminal conduct to help Defendant.

Further, the real gravamen of Defendant's claim appears to be that he should have received a new trial when the initial trial judge's illegal conduct became known mid-trial despite his waiver. However, this issue was raised on direct appeal and rejected:

With regard to the third claim, concerning the change of the trial judge, we find no error. The record indicates that Maharaj expressly agreed to proceed with the second judge and that his counsel stated he would not move for a mistrial. Therefore, this claim is without merit.

Maharaj, 597 So. 2d at 790. As such, this claim is barred. *Cherry* v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

Defendant next contends that his trial counsel should have moved to recuse the trial judge after the Trinchet encounter. Again, this issue was not raised in Defendant's motion. As such, it is barred. Shere v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S301 (Fla. Jun. 24, 1999); Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988).

Even if the issue had been raised, the lower court's denial would still be proper. Trial counsel testified that he did not consider the Trinchet encounter significant because he merely thought she was trying to steal his client. (T. 226) Further, counsel stated that he did not pursue the matter further because he did not wish to have the police in contact with Defendant. Defendant's allegation that his counsel should have considered the Trinchet encounter as a bribe solicitation is an attempt to apply hindsight to counsel's actions, which is precluded by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694-695 (1984).

Further, Defendant presented no evidence that Trinchet was connected to the initial trial judge at the evidentiary hearing below. As such, Defendant failed to show that the Trinchet encounter would have provided grounds for recusal. Further, the only alleged bias after the Trinchet incident was that the trial judge would not accommodate defense counsel's schedule. (T. 234-35, 350) As such, trial counsel would not have had grounds to move

to recuse the trial judge. See Correll v. State, 698 So. 2d 522, 524 (Fla. 1997) (motion to recuse only legally sufficient if alleges facts that a reasonable prudent person would fear getting fair hearing). He therefore cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1998) (counsel not ineffective for failing to raise meritless issue); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 965 (1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992).

Next, Defendant contends that his counsel was ineffective for not investigating the grounds for mistrial and that his waiver based on this advice was therefore not voluntary. The lower court rejected this claim, stating:

> Regarding the defendant's claim that counsel failed to demand or move for mistrial after the bribery arrest of the first trial judge, the Court finds that this claim is also without merit. Counsel testified that he fully informed the defendant of his right to move for a mistrial and the decision was his. The defendant clearly made an informed and intelligent waiver of his right to a mistrial. Accordingly, there is no evidence in the record to show that counsel was deficient. Further, the Court concludes that defendant raised this issue on appeal and relitigate this matter postconviction relief proceeding. . . . The Court finds trial counsel's testimony to be worthy of belief. Further, the Court finds that the defendant chose not to testify, and

therefore, he did not offer any evidence to refute trial counsel's testimony of effective assistance of counsel provided to the defendant.

(R. 6632-33)(citations omitted). These findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

At the evidentiary hearing below, counsel testified that he made a strategic decision to advise Defendant against moving for a (T. 242)Contrary to Defendant's assertion, this mistrial. decision was based on more than just the expected contradictions between Damas' testimony and Ellis' testimony. Counsel testified that he was happy with the jury and the manner in which the proceedings were going. (T. 242) Further, he felt that the contradictions between Ellis' testimony and Butler's testimony were helpful. (T. 354) Counsel also felt that the arrest of the judge midtrial might reenforce his trial theory, which was that the State's witnesses were lying. (T. 355) Finally, counsel testified that he allowed Defendant to make the final decision, without threat or coercion. (T. 356, 360) As such, the lower court's findings are supported by the record, apply the correct law and should be affirmed.

While Defendant contends that his counsel should have investigated the facts before deciding to advise Defendant against seeking a mistrial, Defendant does not point to any facts that

counsel would have discovered. Defendant merely alleges that counsel should have viewed the facts known to him differently. However, such second guessing does not support a claim of ineffectiveness. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Shere, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S301 n.9; Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995).

Finally, Defendant appears to contend that he is entitled to relief because the second trial judge allegedly had the State write the sentencing order for him and the first post conviction judge was recused. However, Defendant ignores that he has received relief for these claims. Defendant's death sentence has been vacated. He has been given a second round of post conviction proceedings. As Defendant has received the relief to which he was entitled for these alleged violations, there is no basis to provide further relief.

Defendant also asserts that the State prepared the initial order summarily denying the post conviction motion as the result of an ex parte communication. However, Defendant presented no evidence to substantiate this claim below.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT DENY DEFENDANT FUNDS.

Defendant initially contends that the lower court denied him funds to pursue the evidentiary hearing in this matter. However, the record is clear that the lack of funding was due to Defendant's insistence on the timing of the hearing.

The lower court attempted to assist Defendant in obtaining funds. When the motion for costs was originally made, the lower court first considered whether the county could provide the funding. (T. 19) However, the county and Defendant both agreed that under Hoffman v. Haddock, 695 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 1997), the county was not responsible for bearing them. (T. 21-22) As such, the lower court denied the motion to assess the costs against the county but referred the matter to Judge Schaeffer. (T. 26)

Judge Schaeffer considered the request and objected to the use of out-of-state experts where local and in-state experts were available. (T. 47-48) However, she agreed to reconsider the request if Defendant found local or in-state experts. (T. 48-50)

While Defendant contends that Judge Schaeffer's refusal to provide funds was erroneous, the record is clear that Judge Schaeffer properly determined that Defendant was not entitled to funds from this source. Defendant privately retained both the attorneys who represented him when his motion for post conviction

relief was originally filed and his present attorney, who initially represented him on appeal from the initial summary denial. The Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) did not declare a conflict in this matter. The funds administered by Judge Schaeffer are for matters in which conflict counsel has been appointed. As such, Judge Schaeffer could not provide Defendant with funds.

While Defendant claims a conflict based on his lack of representation during the relinquishment on direct appeal, he did not argue this issue to the lower court when it was raised as a basis for Judge Schaeffer's refusal to provide funding. (T. 85-86) As such, this issue is not preserved. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla.1982)("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.").

Even if the claim had been preserved, it is meritless. Pursuant to §27.702, Fla. Stat. (1989), CCR could not commence representing a defendant until his direct appeal was complete. Here, Defendant was in the middle of his direct appeal at the time of the relinquishment and not entitled to be represented by CCR. Further, Defendant did not request that he be represented by CCR. Defendant attempted to retain private counsel to handle the

relinquishment. Failing that, Defendant asked that the public defender or private counsel be appointed. As such, there was no conflict of interest between Defendant and CCR.

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